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This form is for use in nominating or requesting determinations of eligibility for individual properties or districts. SeeEu%!ruZ&% in Guidelines
for Completing National Register Forms (National Register Bulletin 16). Complete each item by marking ‘'x"’ in the appropriate box or by entering
the requested information. If an item does not apply to the property being documented, enter ‘‘N/A" for ‘‘not applicable." For functions, styles, materials,

and areas of significance, enter only the categories and subcategories listed in the instructions. For additional space use continuation sheets
(Form 10-900a). Type all entries.

1. Name of Property

historic name Loudon Town Hall
other names/site number Loudon Town House, Loudon Meeting H

2. Location
street & numbercorner ,Clough Hill Road and Youngs Hill Road L _[not for publication N/A

city, town Loudon L _Ivicinity N/A
state New Hampshire code NH county Merrimack code NE 013 zipcode (03301
3. Classification
Ownership of Property Category of Property Number of Resources within Property
[ ] private building(s) Contributing Noncontributing
public-local [ ] district 1 buildings
[:I public-State El site sites
[ ] public-Federal [ ] structure structures

] object objects

1 0 Total
Name of related multiple property listing: Number of contributing resources previously
N/A listed in the National Register

4. State/Federal Agency Certification

As the designated authority under the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, | hereby certify that this
nomlnatuon [:] request for determination of eligibility meets the documentation standards for registering properties in the
National Re?lster of Historic Places and meets the procedural and professional requirements set forth in 36 CFR Part 60.

In my openty, egts not meet the National Register criteria. |:|See continuation sheet.
July 26, 1990

Date

chc(ture Sf cenrtifying official
NEW HAMPSHIRE

State or Federal agency and bureau

In my opinion, the property Dmeets Ddoes not meet the National Register criteria. D See continuation sheet.

Signature of commenting or other official Date

State or Federal agency and bureau

5. National Park Service Cenrtification
I, hereby, certify that this property is:

Yo tiors] Rapinted
ﬁentered in the National Register. /7(/ P % :
See continuation sheet. t"%ﬁg_/ 7/ /9 d
[ ] determined eligible for the National 7/ / o7
Register. []see continuation sheet.

Ddetermined not eligible for the
National Register.

[ ]removed from the National Register.
E]other, (explain:)

Jﬂ .
T‘Aﬁgﬁature of the Keeper Date of Action



6. Function or Use

Historic Functions (enter categories from instructions) Current Functions (enter categories from instructions)
Government / city hall Government / city hall

Religion / religious structure Religion / religious structure

7. Description

Architectural Classification Materials (enter categories from instructions)
(enter categories from instructions)

foundation Granite

Greek Revival walls Weatherboard
roof Metal
other

Describe present and historic physical appearance.

The Loudon Town Hall stands at its original location on its own lot at
the north corner of the intersection of Clough Hill Road and Youngs Hill
Road in the Town of Loudon. The Greek Revival style wooden building consists
of a two and a half story, gable roofed main block, with a two stage belfry
tower, which sits astride the roof ridge above the main facade, the south-
east gable end. (Both the main block and the tower have post and beam
frames.) The building is set close to Clough Hill Road, with the southwest
lateral facade facing that road, and with the southeast gable end facing
Youngs Hill Road across a parking lot.and a long lawn. In its present
state, the building is designed to serve two separate functions, both
governmental and religious, with the first story serving as the Loudon:
town hall and the second story housing the Loudon Center Free Will Baptist
Church. The building retains its basic integrity of location, design,
setting, materials, workmanship, feeling and association. The exterior has
seen little change since 1847, save for the installation of stained glass
in the second story windows and of emergency exits on the northeast side.
The town rooms appear today virtually as they did in 1892, while the church
rooms have not changed greatly since 1923.

The main block, rectangular in plan, is set on a foundation that has
been partly replaced. The older cut granite block foundation can still be
seen on the southeast and northwest gable ends and at the easterly ends of
the lateral southwest and northeast facades. But, much of the foundation
on the southwest (Clough Hill Road) facade has been replaced by concrete
blocks. And most of the foundation on the northeast side is now poured con-
crete. The foundation is interrupted on the southwest by a small screened
vent and on the northeast by a small metal grill, which ventilate the
low inaccessible space beneath the first floor of the building. The main
block walls are clapboarded with sillboards. The front (south and east)
corners of the main block and the main facade, the southeast gable end,
are “distinguished by tall pilasters. The pilasters embrace each corner,
while two intermediate pilasters divide the southeast gable end into three
bays. The pilasters have bases formed by projections of the sillboards and
moulded capitals. The capitals, however, stop short of the main block
cornice. But, above them, vertical rectangular panels, of the same width
as the pilasters, do rise to the cornice. The less seen pilaster on the
northeast facade side of the east corner is narrower than the other
pilasters and is topped by a simple board, not a panel, between the

[X] see continuation sheet



8. Statement of Significance
Certifying official has considered the significance of this property in relation to other properties:

[Jnationally []statewide locally

Applicable National Register Criteria [x]JA [ JB [ ]Jc [ ]D
Criteria Considerations (Exceptions) [x]A [ B8 [Jc [Jo [Je [JF [a

Areas of Significance (enter categories from instructions) Period of Significance Significant Dates

Politics / Government 1779-1940 N/A

Cultural Affiliation

N/A
Significant Person Architect/Builder
N/A unknown

State significance of property, and justify criteria, criteria considerations, and areas and periods of significance noted above.

The Loudon Town Hall is significant under Criterion A in the area of
Politics and Government as one of the oldest town halls in Merrimack
County and as a good example of these centers of local government. Erected
in 1779 (although not completed until 1791), the Loudon Town Hall housed
all Loudon town meetings from September 1779 through March 1981 and all
electlons in Loudon from September 1779 to the present. It also housed
the town's only office, used for selectmen's meetlngs and the storage of
town records, from 1850 through 1976. The building's history is somewhat
unusual, as it has continued also to serve a local church throughout its
history, although, since 1847, the town and church functions have been
housed on different floors. (Although the building has been used, at least
in part, for religious purposes since its construction, it remains eligible
for the National Register under Criteria Exception A, as its primary
significance derives from its historical importance in Politics and Gov-
ernment.) The building's period of significance begins with its construc-
tion and its first use for a town meeting in 1779, and ends in 1940, the
arbitrary fifty-year cutoff date.

The Loudon Town Hall is locally significant in Politics and Govern-
ment, having served as the town hall and therefore the seat of local gov-
ernment through two centuries. It is the only structure ever built in
Loudon to house town meetings and elections. And, from 1850 through the
mid 1970's, it was the only building in Loudon erected to house any munic-
ipal offices. Having retained its integrity from its period of significance,
the Town Hall continues to convey the character and associations of its
historic use and functional type.

Merrimack County was settled in the 18th century, the area being
granted as townships to various groups of proprietors. Typically, when
the population in a township had grown large enough, the township was
incorporated as a town and given the right of self government. Twenty-
two of the present twenty-seven municipalities in the county were in-
corporated as towns by the end of the 18th century. (Two small townships

[X] see continuation sheet



9. Major Bibliographical References

Loudon Town Hall
ANNUAL REPORT OF THE FINANCIAL AFFAIRS OF THE TOWN OF LOUDON FOR THE YEAR
ENDING MARCH 1, 1892 (Concord:N.H. Democratic Press Co., 1892)

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE FINANCIAL AFFAIRS OF THE TOWN OF LOUDON FOR THE YEAR
ENDING MARCH 1, 1893 (Concord: N.H. Democratic Press Co.,1893)

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE FINANCIAL AFFAIRS OF THE TOWN OF LOUDON FOR THE YEAR
ENDING FEBRUARY 15, 1897 (Concord:The People and Patriot, 1897)

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE FINANCIAL AFFAIRS OF THE TOWN OF LOUDON FOR THE YEAR
ENDING FEBRUARY 15, 1904 (Concord: Ira C. Evans, 1904)

ANNUAL REPORT OF THE TOWN OF LOUDON FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDING FEBRUARY
15, 1915 (Concord: Ira C. Evans, 1915)

See continuation sheet
Previous documentation on file (NPS):

l:lpreliminary determination of individual listing (36 CFR 67) Primary location of additional data:
has been requested . - - Sren [ ] State historic preservation .office -1+ .
[:]previously listed in the National Register [:]Other State agency
[:]previously determined eligible by the National Register |:| Federal agency
[ldesignated a National Historic Landmark Local government
l:lrecorded by Historic American Buildings [ university
Survey # [_]other
D recorded by Historic American Engineering Specify repository:
Record # Loudon Town Offices
10. Geographical Data .
Acreage of property apRrOXimately 1.0 acre
UTM References
Al11,9] [310,2]9,2,0] [4,8]00]4,00] =3 T I T O I T T
Zone Easting Northing Zone Easting Northing
(o3 I I I I T O T B A »J T I I R T I O T B

l_—_]See continuation sheet

Verbal Boundary Description

The boundary of the nominated property is described as follows; beginning
at the south corner of the nominated property at the intersection of Clough
Hill Road and Youngs Hill Road, the boundary proceeds northwest along the
right-of way of Clough Hill Road to a point 22 feet west of the Loudon

Town Hall; then proceeds northeast on an arbitrary line, parallel to the
See continuation sheet

Boundary Justification

The boundary of the nominated property was drawn to include the Loudon

Town Hall and that portion of the town owned lot which retains its integrity

and is visually associated with the Town Hall. All of the property included

in the nomination has been historically associated with the Loudon Town

Hall since its construction. Excluded from the nominated property are two
See continuation sheet

11. Form Prepared By

nameltitle David L. Ruell
organization date February 28, 1990
street & number ___ 16 Hill Street telephone _ (603) 968-7716

city or town Ashland state New Hampshire zip code 03217
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capital and the cornice. The rear (north and west) corners of the main block
are trimmed by cornerboards. (The sillboards project at the base of the
cornerboards on the north corner, but not on the west corner.) Three facades,
the southeast gable end and the lateral northeast and southwest facades,
share a box cornice with mouldings and frieze, that is pedimented on the
southeast gable.The -horizontal cornices of the lateral facades and the pedi-
ment have very narrow friezes, while the raking cornices of the pediment
have somewhat wider, but still narrow,friezes. The rear northwest gable has
close verges with friezes and returns of the lateral cornices. The gable roof
is sheathed with corrugated metal and is protected by three lightning rods

on the ridge. The roof is interrupted by the belfry tower at the southeast
end and by a simple brick chimney with corbeled cap on the northeast slope
below the tower.

The main facade, the southeast gable end, is divided into three bays by
the pilasters. The central bay, which is slightly wider than the two side
bays, contains the main entry, double six panel doors in a wide plain frame
with wooden sill and plain upper and lower cornerblocks. The entry is served
by granite block steps, a wide upper step surrounded on all three sides by
a lower step. Above the entry, large cutout painted wooden letters, mounted
on narrow strips of wood, spell out the date "1779" and the tilte '"Loudon /
Town Hall''. The windowless second story of the central bay has similar
painted letters on narrow wooden strips which announce the ''Loudon Center /
Freewill / Baptist Church'". (A spotlight is mounted on the horizontal pedi-
ment cornice above the central bay, and electric meters are mounted on the
pilaster to the south of the central bay.) The first story of the two side
bays each contain a twelve over twelve sash window in a plain frame with sill
and upper cornerblocks. Beneath the first story windows are mounted flower
boxes with scalloped upper edges, each supported by two curvilinear sawn
wooden brackets. The northerly first story window now has a metal framed one
over one sash storm window mounted over it. The second story of the two side
bays each contain a stained glass window set in an older plain wooden frame
with sill and upper cornerblocks (like the first story window frames). The
rectangular stained glass windows of the second story, on all four facades,
have the same geometric and floral pattern incorporating a large semicircular
arch and four small trefoil arches in the design. The clapboarded, pedimented
southeast gable is windowless.

The five bay Clough Hill Road facade, the southwest lateral facade, has
five first story twelve over twelve sash windows, all in plain wooden frames
with sills. The second story has four stained glass windows in similar plain
wooden frames with sills, placed directly above the four westernmost first
story windows. The road facade also has painted wooden signs announcing the
Free Will Baptist Church, its pastor, and the hours of its services. A
relatively plain rectangular sign is mounted on the wall (above a smaller
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painted wooden sign) between the two easternmost windows of the first story.
A more ornate sign, with scrolled base and top, hangs from a metal bracket
mounted on the south corner pilaster. Four small spotlights are mounted on
the cornice of the southwest facade.

The northeast lateral facade has a five bay first story, with four
twelve over twelve sash windows, in plain frames with sills, like their
counterparts on the southwest facade. (The easternmost window now has a
modern,metal framed,one over one sash, storm window.) The second bay from
the west in the first story is now occupied by a side door for the town hall,
a six panel door with plain frame, that is reached by a long, L-shaped,
wheelchair ramp. The ramp has plain wooden posts and railings, and a plywood
floor. From the door, a level section of the ramp extends perpendicularly
out from the building to the northeast. The ramp then turns to the south-
east and parallels the northeast facade of the building as it slopes gently
to the ground to the southeast. On the northwest side of the end of the
level section, four board steps with board sidewalls descend to the ground
to the northwest. The second story of the northeast facade has four stained
glass windows in plain frames with sills, corresponding to the four stained
glass windows of the southwest facade, and like them, placed above the
four westerly bays of the first story. The five bay second story also has
a fire escape door between its two central windows. The plain framed six
panel door opens onto the upper board floored landing of the metal fire
escape. The landing and the metal grate steps that descend along the wall
to the northwest of the landing share a simple metal railing. The landing
is supported by a tall metal round metal post with a metal brace, and the
steps are supported by another round metal post.The metal stairway does not
reach the ground, the two lower steps of the fire escape being separate
concrete steps. A small spotlight is mounted on the northeast cornice and
a large modern light fixture is mounted on the east corner pilaster.

The two bay rear northwest gable end has five windows in plain frames
with sills, two twelve over twelve sash windows in the first story, two
stained glass windows in the second story, and a smaller nine over six sash
window (for the attic) in the gable.

The square two stage belfry tower sits astride the roof ridge, with the
front of the tower base set only slightly back from the plane of the main
block's southeast gable end. The base is clapboarded with cornerboards and,
on the lateral southwest and northeast sides, sillboards. The base is
topped by a box cornice with mouldings and narrow frieze. The only opening
in the tower base is a plain framed six over three sash window in the rear
northwest wall. (The window was once a six over six sash window, but four
panes in the lower sash have been replaced by a large single pane.) The
smaller belfry stage is sheathed with flush boarding and trimmed by corner
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pilasters with moulded capitals and by a wide box cornice with mouldings,
deep frieze, and architrave. In each face of the belfry is a large rec-
tangular opening in a plain frame with upper cornerblocks. Through the
openings can be seen the bell and its framework. These openings are now
filled by wire mesh, supported in part by a light vertical timber in the
center of each opening. The belfry's very low pitched pyramidal roof is
surrounded by a wooden railing with plain top and botton rails and corner
posts with simply moulded caps. Set behind each corner post is a lightning
rod. Rising from the center of the belfry roof is a tall pyramidal wooden
spire with simple corner mouldings, that is topped by a wooden globe and
an arrow shaped metal weathervane.

The westerly four-fifths of the first story is devoted to a large meet-
ing room, the town hall proper. The easterly fifth of the first story is
occupied by three smaller rooms, an entry hall in the center, the select-
men's office in the east corner, and the stairhall to the second story
church rooms in the south corner. The entry hall has a board floor with
plastic runners in the center. The plaster walls have vertical beaded
board wainscoating topped by simple moulded rails. Boxed corner posts are
found in the south and east corners of the room. The plaster ceiling has
a central light fixture. Plain frames surround the doors, the double six
panel exterior doors in the center of the southeast wall, the large wide
six panel door to the town hall in the center of the northwest wall, and
a wide four panel door, with three pane transom window, to the church
stairhall at the west end of the southwest wall. The southwest wall also
features a cork covered bulletin board and electric switch boxes.

The board floor of the town hall proper is interrupted by small con-
crete floors around the large furnaces in the south and east corners, and
by a raised platform covering the entire northwest end of the room. The
walls are plastered above vertical beaded board wainscoating, topped by
wide moulded rails at the window sill level. (The window sills project
slightly down into the wainscoating rails.) The ceiling is covered by
moulded wooden panels., The long panels, which run southeast-northwest,
are arranged in four rows, the division of the rows corresponding to the
transverse beams hidden in the ceiling. The presence of the beams is in-
dicated by three long metal tie rods that help to strengthen them. Each
tranverse tie rod slants down from the ceiling at each end to wooden blocks
between the rod and the ceiling at each end of the flat central portion of
the tie rod (which contains a turnbuckle). The ceiling beams are also each
supported by two wooden posts, which are placed symmetrically, giving the
room two rows of three posts each. The posts have chamfered edges. Indeed,
the chamfers on the posts are so deep that the posts, while square at the
tops and bottoms, are essentially regular octagons in their central cham-
fered sections. Nine electric light fixtures are mounted on the ceiling.
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The board floor of the town hall's northwesterly platform is raised one
and a half feet above the main floor. Three quarters of the platform front
(which is set just behind the room's two northwesterly posts) is covered
by vertical beaded boarding topped by a moulding. But, the westerly quarter
of the platform has been extended two feet into the hall. This projection
has a board floor and a front of vertical beveled boarding topped by a
moulding. The platform is reached by four separate sets of steps, a single
step at the southerly end with a vertical beaded board front (served by a
moulded hand rail mounted on the wall), a plain board single step near the
southerly post, two wide board steps around the northerly post (served by
a moulded hand rail supported by the northerly post and its own simple post),
and a single step with vertical beveled board front at the northerly end
(served by a simply moulded hand rail mounted on the wall). On the front
edge of the platform, at the northerly and southerly ends, are wooden
railings, each having a simple moulded rail and square end posts with cham-
fered edges and moulded caps.

The furnaces in the south and east corners of the room are set on squares
of concrete floor. Rising from the top of each large round metal furnace
is a round metal hot air tube, which rises through the ceiling to heat the
church auditorium above. From the back of the south corner furnace, a stove
pipe rises to near the ceiling, then runs to the northeast(parallel to the
southeast wall)to the east corner, where it is joined by a stovepipe from
the east corner furnace before it turns to enter the chimney through a
brick faced panel in the southeast wall.

In the center of the southeast wall is the six panel door to the entry
hall, set in a plain frame with splayed jambs. To the north of the entry
hall door is the plain framed four panel door to the selectmen's office.
The twelve over twelve sash windows that light the hall are all deeply re-
cessed,with wide sills, splayed jambs, and plain frames that rise from the
wainscoating to the ceiling. There are four such windows in the southwest
(Clough Hill Road) side wall, three in the northeast side wall,and two in
the northwest rear wall. The northeast wall now contains, in the second bay
from the west, a six panel exterior door, also deeply recessed with
splayed jambs, plain frame, and an exit light on the doorhead. Built against
the northeast wall, to the east of the door and actually covering part of
the next window,are two voting booths with plywood side and rear walls,
and sliding curtains on their fronts (but no ceilings). Each voting booth
is equipped with a plywood writing shelf and an electric light mounted on
the rear wall. Nine more voting booths stand on the platform against the
northwest rear wall. These booths have plain vertical board side walls and
swinging board or plywood doors on their fronts. They have no ceilings and
use the northwest wall of the room as their rear walls. Each is equipped
with a wooden writing shelf and an electric light mounted on a side wall.
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As the voting booths are built in front of the northerly window in the
northwest wall, the lower portion of the window is covered by boards mounted
to the frame, which protect the privacy of the voters.

The selectmen's office in the north corner of the first story has a
board floor and plaster walls with wainscoating of the same design as
seen in the town hall, with vertical beaded boarding and heavy moulded
rails. In the north corner of the room is a chimney projection covered
by plaster with a plain baseboard, a plain chair rail and a simple ceiling
moulding. (Electric baseboard heaters have been installed along the south-
east, northeast, and northwest walls.) The ceiling is covered by moulded
wooden panels like those of the town hall ceiling, again running southeast
to northwest. Hanging on chains from the ceiling is a fluorescent light
fixture. The outer northeast and southeast walls each contain a twelve over
twelve sash window, with splayed jambs, wide sill, and a plain frame rising
from the wainscoating to the ceiling. At the east end of the northeast wall,
three short modern prefabricated wooden cabinets, with double single panel
doors, ornate hardware, and moulded bases, are mounted one above the other,
on the wall. Four more such cabinets, are mounted high on the northwest
wall, in two stacks of two cabinets each. Between these last prefrabicated
cabinets and the chimney projection in the north corner, the northwest wall
features a high plain wooden bookcase, mounted some four feet above the
floor and rising to the ceiling. At the south end of the northwest wall is
the plain framed four panel door to the town hall. Set against the south-
west wall are two large metal safes. A plain wooden bookcase (rising to
the ceiling) is set on the eastern safe in the south corner. Another pre-
fabricated cabinet, like the wall mounted cabinets, is set on the western

safe. Two high rails with coathooks are mounted on the southwest wall to
the west of the bookcases.

The first story of the stairhall in the south corner of the building
has a corridor from the entry hall door along the northwest side of the
stairhall to three steps, which lead up to the lower landing filling the
southwest end of the stairhall. From this lower landing, a long stairway
rises along the southeast wall to the second story. Beneath the long stair-
way on the southeast side is a small storage room. The lower stairhall
has plaster walls with baseboards, which rise along with the steps and
the stairs. The lower corridor and the landing have linoleum floors and
share a plaster ceiling with a small light fixture. But, above the long
southeastern stairs, the lower stairhall opens directly above into the
second story. At the northeast end of the lower corridor is the plain framed
four panel door with three pane transom window, to the entry hall. In the
lower corridor's southeast wall is a plain framed four panel door to the
small storage room under the stairs. (The storage space has a board floor,
unfinished board walls with exposed studding, and a pitched board ceiling.
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It is 1it by the lower portion of a twelve over twelve sash window, here
untrimmed, in the southeast wall.) The steps between the lower corridor
and the landing, and the stairs from the landing to the second story, both
have risers and treads with moulded nosings (partly covered by rubber
treads) and share the same balustrade, with turned newelposts topped by
turned caps, round balusters, and and simply moulded handrails. The long
stairs are also trimmed by a stringboard with simply moulded lower edge.
The landing is 1lit by a twelve over twelve sash window in the southwest
wall, whose plain frame rises from the baseboard to the ceiling. A boxed
corner post appears in the south corner of the landing, while a plain tri-
angular wooden shelf is mounted in the west corner of the landing. The
upper portion of the twelve over twelve sash window in the southeast wall
of the first story, which projects above the baseboard beside the long
stairway, is given a plain frame. A modern chairlift is mounted on the
stairs, beside the balustrade, from the landing to the second story. And

a simply moulded handrail is mounted on the southeast wall alongside the
long stairs.

The westerly four fifths of the second story is again devoted to a large
meeting room, here the church auditorium. In the south corner of the second
story is the upper stairhall, part of which has been partitioned off as a
closet. The rest of the second story, that is to say, the area above the
entry hall and the selectmen's office in the first story, is devoted to a
large anteroom for the auditorium.

The upper portion of the stairhall has an L-shaped landing to the south-
west and northwest of the stairs from the lower landing to the second story.
The upper landing is protected from the open stairway by a continuation of
the stairway balustrade, complete with turned newelposts, round balusters,
and moulded rails. The southwest end of the upper stairhall landing , the
area directly above the lower landing, has been partitioned off to create
a long narrow closet. The partition, built behind the southwesterly upper
balustrade, is of vertical beaded boarding. The northwest and southeast
walls of the upper stairhall, are plastered with plain baseboards. A light
fixture hangs by a chain from the high plaster ceiling. The area is also
lit by a plain framed second story stained glass window in the southeast
outer wall. The northeast wall of the upper stairhall is actually a wall
of doors and windows. Two pairs of two-leaved five panel doors,in a simply
moulded frame, span the entire width of the wall. One set of doors is found
at the upper end of the stairs from the first story, the other set at the
end of the upper stairhall landing. Both open into the anteroom. Above the
doors are two large ten pane transom windows (one above each set of doors),
which share a simply moulded frame and fill most of the wall up to the
ceiling. The upper stairhall landing to the northwest of the stairs is
now used for storage and is therefore hidden from the stairway by composition
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board behind the balustrade and by hanging curtains on a metal frame that
extend a few feet above the balustrade. At the southwest end of this part
of the upper stairhall landing is the plain framed door of vertical beaded
boarding, which serves the closet. The closet is 1lit by a plain framed
four pane casement window in the beaded board partition overlooking the
stairway. (The closet has a linoleum floor, three original walls of plaster
with plain baseboards, the newer northeast wall of vertical beaded board-
ing, and a high plaster ceiling with central hanging light fixture. The
northeast wall contains the plain framed four pane casement window and

the untrimmed vertical beaded board door. Three plain wooden shelves and

a single moulded rail with coathooks stretch the entire lengths of both
the southeast and the southwest walls.)

The anteroom shares a continuous linoleum floor with the upper stair-
hall landing. Its southwest wall (the northeast wall of the upper stair-
hall), with its two double leaved five panel doors, and two ten pane
transom windows, all in simply moulded frames, essentially appears the
same in the anteroom as it does in the stairhall. The other three walls
of the anteroom, and the chimney projection in the north corner, are
plastered with plain baseboards. The high plaster ceiling has a hanging
light fixture, two small holes for the bell ropes,and a simply framed,
recessed board trapdoor to the attic. The southeast wall contains a plain
framed stained glass window. High moulded rails with coathooks are found
on the southeast and northeast walls, and plain chair rails appear on the
southeast and northwest walls. Mounted onto the coathook rail and the
chairrail of the southeast wall is a felt covered bulletin board. At the
southwest end of the northwest wall is the entry to the church auditorium,
double four panel doors with tall moulded panels and a plain frame. Set
to the north of the doors, near the northwest wall, is a cast iron stove
on a metal floorpad. The stovepipe rises from the back of the stove, then
runs horizontally to the chimney in the north corner of the room.

The church auditorium has a hardwood main floor, covered by plastic
runners in the aisles, and interrupted by an ornate round metal flue grate
(for the hot air from the first story furnaces) in both the south and
east corners. The walls are sheathed with pressed metal above vertical
beaded board wainscoating with moulded rails that also serve as the window
sills. The upper pressed metal walls are covered with a pattern of diamonds,
the diamonds alternately containing fleur-de-lis and cross shaped ornaments.
The walls are topped by coved pressed metal cornice, ornamented with
mouldings, foliated decoration, and small trefoil arches. The pressed
metal ceiling is mostly devoted to square panels, each with moulded edges
and an ornate design featuring fleur-de-1lis and trefoils. All of the
panels are separated by beaded mouldings. In the center of the ceiling,

a larger square panel, surrounded by a heavy moulding with foliated ornament,
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contains a round panel with ornament radiating from the light fixture
hanging from the center of the panel. The ceiling also has four other
electric light fixtures, two incorporating ceiling fans, each mounted in
the center of a square panel, of the same design as the other square panels.
The ceiling is bordered by a wide strip of pressed metal covered with small
bumps and a quite elaborate central band of foliated ornament. This outer
border is separated from the square panels by a heavy foliated moulding,
like that surrounding the central square.

In the center of the southeast wall of the church auditorium is the
plain framed,double, four paneled doors to the anteroom. The deeply re-
cessed windows of the church auditorium all have stained glass (of the
pattern already described on the exterior), wide sills,and moulded frames
(with square upper cornerblocks) which rise from the wainscoating to the
pressed metal cornice. The southwest and northeast walls each contain four
such windows, while the northwest wall has two windows. Mounted between the
two central windows of the southwest wall is a round metal clock with a
simply moulded round frame. Between the two central windows of the north-
east wall is the fire escape door, a deeply recessed, six panel door with
moulded side trim and a segmental arched doorhead ornameted by a simply
moulding and a small metal cross. In the center of the northwest wall,
behind the pulpit, a curtain,with a cross mounted on it,hangs from the wall.
Flanking the curtain are two simple wall mounted electric lights and two
Gothic arched wooden hymnboards. (Modern speakers for the sound system are
mounted on the southeast, southwest and northwest walls.)

The four rows of slip pews are divided by a central aisle and are

separated from the walls by side aisles. The two central rows flanking the
central aisle- are set parallel to the northwest and southeast end walls.
But, the two outer rows of pews are angled slightly to face the pulpit
platfrom in the center of the northwest wall. The thirty-six wooden pews
(nine in each row) each have a broad wooden side (sometimes cushioned),
a broad pew back topped by mouldings, an ornate curvilinear sawn pew end
with incised ornament on the aisle, and a curvilinear sawn armrest sepa-
rating it from the adjoining pew. Each pew is also supported by a simple
central wooden brace on the back.

In the center of the northwest end of the room is the pulpit platform,
while the north corner of the room is occupied by the choir platform. The
carpeted floors of both platforms are raised about a foot and a half above
the main floor. The two platforms both have vertical beaded board fronts.
The south and east corners of the pulpit platform are slighlty curved.

Two slightly curved carpeted steps, with sidewalls of vertically beaded
boarding topped by moulded copings, are placed at -the two corners. Flanking
the top of each set of steps and set into the pulpit platform front,are
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short square posts, ornamented by chamfered edges and moulded wooden and
marble caps. (On the north side of the east corner steps, the sidewall and
the flanking post were eliminated,as here the choir platform front butts

up against the pulpit platform steps.) The furniture on the pulpit platform,
the pulpit and chairs, is all movable. The choir platform, filling the
north corner to the northeast of the pulpit platform, projects further into
the room than the pulpit platform. Unlike the pulpit platform, whose beaded
board front rises only to the floor level, the choir platform has a taller
beaded board front, which rises above the floor to form a low wall with a
top moulding and a crowning brass rail, with a short hanging curtain. The
low wall is straight on its southwest side,at its junction with the pulpit
platform, but is curved on its southeast side, beside the-pulpit steps.

and on the main front of the platform facing the pews. At the northerly
end of the platform front are two slightly curved carpeted steps, set
against the northeast auditorium wall, and flanked on the southwest by a
sidewall of vertical beaded boarding with simply moulded coping, like the
sidewalls of the pulpit platform steps. Flanking the top of these steps

and set at the end of the low choir platform wall and brass railing is
another, albeit taller, square wooden post with chamfered edges and moulded
wooden and marble cap. The furniture on the choir platform, chairs and an
organ, is movable, as is the piano found on the main floor in the west
corner of the auditorium.

The trapdoor in the anteroom ceiling opens into the unfinished attic
above the entire main block. The attic has an unfinished floor of exposed
beams and posts and the laths of the second story ceilings. The gable end
walls are unfinished board ceilings with exposed framework and studding.
Four massive queenpost trusses, each composed of a tie beam, two queenposts,
a collar beam, two rafters, and two long braces from the tie beam to the
queenposts, span the attic. The trusses are connected to each other and
to the posts in the gable end walls by horizontal beams, with braces, that
give some additional structural support in the longitudinal (northwest-
southeast) direction. The rafters of the trusses and the endwalls support
heavy exposed purlins and the double pitched board ceiling of the attic.
The attic is 1lit by an untrimmed nine over six sash window in the north-
west end wall.

The belfry tower, which was built after the main block, is supported
by a heavy timber frame, placed on the original main block frame. Two
heavy sills stretch from the plate in the southeast gable end wall to
the tie beam of the easternmost roof truss. From these inserted sills
rise the four heavy cornerposts, with braces, of the tower frame. The
attic opens directly above into the tower base, with its exposed framework,
unfinished board walls with exposed studding, and low pitched pyramidal
board ceiling with exposed rafters and beams. From a small board landing



Ak 01990

NP8 Form 10500 OMB Approvel No. 10240018

United States Department of the Interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places
Continuation Sheet

Section number __Z_ Page _10__ Loudon Town Hall

near the attic's trapdoor at the southeast end of the attic floor, a plain
wooden ladder rises to a narrow landing formed of two planks that stretch
across the tower base. From this landing, another plain wooden ladder
rises to a small board trapdoor in the tower base ceiling. The tower base
is 1it by an unfinished six over three sash window in the northwest wall.

The trapdoor in the tower base ceiling opens into the belfry. The
belfry's metal covered floor is pitched on all four sides to allow drainage
and is interrupted by the board covered trapdoor. The belfry has unfinished
board walls with exposed framework and studding, and a low pitched pyramidal
board ceiling with exposed rafters and beams. In each wall is a large un-
trimmed rectangular opening, now divided by a vertical timber which helps
to support the wire mesh filling the opening. In the center of the belfry,
the bell and its metal framework, sits on two heavy horizontal beams

supported by the tower frame. The bell is labeled with its maker "William
Blake & Co. of Boston' and its date '"1878".

The grounds included in the nominated property are bounded on the south-
west by Clough Hill Road, on the southeast by Youngs Hill Road, on the
northeast by a steep wooded bank and a stone wall, and on the northwest by
the town garage and its parking lot. Around the town hall, the grounds
are a relatively flat lawn. Southeast of the building is a level parking
lot (mostly graveled). Southeast of the parking lot is a long field that
slopes down to Youngs Hill Road. A wide asphalt paved walk leads from the
gravel parking lot to the main entry steps of the town hall. A small section
in the north corner of the parking lot is paved. From that paved parking
area, a paved walkway heads northwest for a short distance before splitting,
with a walk going to the town hall wheelchair ramp, and another walk
heading towards the rear of the town garage. The steps on the wheelchair
ramp descend to another paved walk that goes to the side door of the town
garage. Near the south corner of the town hall stands a tall metal flagpole.
And near the base of the flagpole is the Loudon Time Capsule, installed in
1976 beneath an inscribed granite marker with a concrete surround. A few
boulders and granite blocks are found on the rear lawn, northeast of the
building. A fringe of trees grows along the top of the steep wooded bank
marking the rear of the nominated property and along the fieldstone wall
that runs from the east corner of the parking lot to Youngs Hill Road.

(The stone wall has two right angle bends in its course.)

The Loudon Town Hall began its career as the meetinghouse for the Town
of Loudon. The frame was raised in the summer of 1779.l The first recorded
1. Henry J. Osgood, "An historical sketch of the building and repairing

of the Loudon Meeting House from 1773 to 1878" (1878), (manuscript, Loudon
Center Free Will Baptist Church, Loudon, N.H.) unpaged
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town meeting in the building was held in September of that same year.? But,
as was often the case with early meetinghouses, the completion of the
building took several years. Not until 1791 was the interior considered
finished.?® And some work was still needed on the stair towers as late as
1794.%4 There are no views available of the meetinghouse as it appeared

in the late 18th century or early 19th century. But floor plans and some
descriptions do survive.? From these materials, it is clear that the
building was a standard late 18th century meetinghouse, similar to many

New Hampshire town meetinghouses of the period. The two and a half story,
gable roofed main block had a porch a two story stair tower, in the center
of each gable end. Doors appeared in the center of the main block's road
(southwest) facade and in the road facades of the two porches. The interior
of the main block was one large two story space. Box pews covered the main
floor, and a high pulpit beneath a sounding board was found in the center
of the northeast wall, opposite the main entry. A gallery with more pews

at the second story level surrounded the main space on the northwest, south
west, and southeast sides.

The meetinghouse was transformed in 1847 by the division of the main
block into two stories, with a town hall in the first story and a church
in the second story.® These renovations are not completely described in
the surviving records. But we do know that the work, done under the super-
vision of Ira Osgood,’/ included the installation of the belfry tower, new
windows, lightning rods, and a new entry in the southeast gable end.8
Although not specifically mentioned in the surviving contemporary documents,
we can safely assume that the renovations included the removal of the
old main entry and the porches, and the placement of the pilasters and the
pedimented cornice on the new main facade, the southeast gable end.

The exterior appears today virtually as it did in 1847, although there

2. "Loudon Clerk's Book of Records No. 1" (manuscript, Loudon Town Offices,
Loudon, N.H.), p.5l

3. Osgood, '"An historical sketch. "

4. "Loudon Clerk's Book of Records No. 1", pp. 172-173

5. "Loudon Clerk's Book of Records No. 1", p. 127; Osgood, "An historical
sketch...."; Henry Osgood, "A plan of the floor of the Meeting House as
built in 1791" dated April 1, 1878 (copy, Loudon - Center Free Will Baptist
Church, Loudon, N.H.); Henry J. Osgood, Hlstory of Loudon" in D.H. Hurd,
ed. ,HISTORY OF MERRIMACK AND BELKNAP COUNTIES, NEW HAMPSHIRE (Philadelphia:
1885), pp. 490-491

6. Osgo "History of Loudon", pp 491 and 493; "Town Book No. 8, 1837-
1855 (manuscrlpt Loudon Town Offices, Loudon, N.H.) pp. 249-251

7. Osgood, "An historical sketch...."

8. untltled report of building committee, dated January 15 1848 (copy,
Loudon Center Free Will Baptist Church, Loudon, N.H.); Town Book No. 3,
1837-1855", pp. 250-251
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have been a number of minor changes. A chimney was built in 1848,9 and the
chimney ?6 chimneys have been periodically rebuilt since then, most recently
in 1981. (There may have been more than one chimney, or the chimney may
have changed its location, as a late 19th century engraving of the building
shows a chimney at the northwest end of the building.ll) The belfry lacked

a bell unif% one was donated in 1878, and hoisted into place in June of

that year. The late 19th century engraving of the building, the oldest
available view, shows that the belfry tower once had two railings, a lower
railing around the belfry and the surviving railing on the belfry roof.1l3

The lower railing was probably removed in the early 20th century, as it

does not appear in a 1946 photogragh of the town hall,l4 and is not remem-
bered by the older church members. > The corrugated metal roof was apparently
installed in 1916.16 The 1922-23 renovation of the church included the
addition of stained glass,in place of multipane clear glass sash,in the
second story windows.l7 (But the window frames and positions did not change.)l8

In the last fifty years, the most significant exterior change has been
the addition of emergency exits on the northeast lateral facade. A sidf door
for the first story town hall was installed, apparently in the 1950's, 9 and
equipped with a ramp for the handicapped in the mid 1980's.20 Around 1982,
the church installed a fire escape and a second story door to serve it.Z2l
The other recent changes have been less conspicuous. In the 1950's, double
9. "Town Book No. 8, 1837-1855", p.259
10. "“Record Book of the Free Baptist Church Society, Loudon, N.H., 1927-
%982; (manuscript, American Baptist Churches of N.H., Concord, N.H.), pp.
81-283

11. "Belknap Association of Free Baptist Churches at Loudon Center, N.H.,
September 22,23,and 24, 1896", program (Laconia,N.H.:1896), cover

12. "Records of First Baptist Society in Loudon and First Freewill Baptist
Society, 1817-1883" (manuscript, Bernice Sanborn, Loudon, N.H.), unpaged,
minutes of February 4, 1878 meeting; Osgood,'An historical sketch....

13. "Belknap Association of Free Baptist Churches at Loudon Center ...."

14. ANNUAL REPORT OF THE TOWN OF LOUDON FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31,
1946 (no publication data), photograph in unpaged section

15. Ingegviews of Clayton Currier and Guy Deering by David Ruell, December
5, 198

16. ANNUAL REPORT OF THE TOWN OF LOUDON FOR THE YEAR ENDING FEBRUARY 15,1917
(Concord,N.H.:1917), p.20; '"Record of the First Freewill Baptist Society
in Loudon, 1883-1926" (manuscript, American Baptist Churches of N.H.,
Concord, N.H.) p.1l21

17. "History of the First Church of Loudon', dated 1923 (manuscript, Loudon
Center Free Will Baptist Church, Loudon, N.H.) unpaged

18. "Belknap Association of Free Baptist Churches at Loudon Center....

19. Interview of Robert McLaren by David Ruell, February 21, 1990

20. Interview of Roger Maxfield by David Ruell, February 21, 1990

21. Interview of William Frost by David Ruell, December 5, 1989
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doors replaced a wide single door in the main entry.22 (The new entry, like

the old entry was given a plain frame.23)Dated photographs show that the

upper rai}ing on the belfry lost its diagonal struts sometime between 1946

and 1979. Wire mesh was installed in the belfry openings to keep out birds,

probably in the 1970's.25 The belfr§ window was repaired,with a larger pane

replacing four small panes,in 1989.26 In 1974, the weathervane had become

dilapidated,so it was replaced by a reproduction.27 Storm windows apPeared

on the two first story windows of the selectmen's office in the 1960's or

1970's.28 And flowerboxes decorated the two first story southeastern win-

dows about 1982.29 Portions of the foundation were replaced with concrete

in 1952 and again in the early 1970's.30 A wall sign for the church was

mounted on the road facade in 1284,31 and another church sign was hung

on the south corner about 1981. Large letters giving the building's name

and date were placed above the main entry in 1973,33 and similar letters

spelling out the church name were placed on the second story in 1985.3%4

Small spotlights were mounted on the cornice in the 1970's or 1980's,33

and a large light on the east corner in the 1980's.36 Today, the exterior

retains much the same appearance it had in the late 19th century engraving,

and probably appears today as it did in 1847,save for the loss of the lower

22. Interview of Bernice Sanborn by David Ruell, December 13, 1989; inter-
view of Clayton Currier by David Ruell, January 2 and 20, 1990; interview
of Robert McLaren by David Ruell, February 21, 1990

23. "Belknap Association of Free Baptist Churches at Loudon Center....

24, ANNUAL REPORT OF THE TOWN OF LOUDON FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31,
1946, photograph in unpaged section; ANNUAL REPORT OF THE TOWN OF LOUDON
FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 1979 (Concord:1980), cover

25. Interview of William Frost by David Ruell, December 5, 1989

26. Ibid.

27. "Record Book of the Free Baptist Church Society, Loudon, N.H., 1927-
1982", p.228; interview of Clayton Currier by David Ruell, January 2,1990

28. Interview of Roger Maxfield, Robert Ordway, and Robert McLaren by
David Ruell, February 21, 1990; interview of William Frost by David
Ruell, December 5, 1989

29. Interview of William Frost by David Ruell, December 5, 1989

30. ANNUAL REPORT OF THE TOWN OF LOUDON FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31,
1952 (Concord:1953), p.10;interview of Roger Maxfield by David Ruell,
February 21, 1990

31. "Record Book of the Free Baptist Church Society, Loudon, N.H., 1927-
1982", pp.177-178

32. Interview of William Frost by David Ruell, December 5, 1989

33. Interview of Guy Deering by David Ruell, December 5, 1989

34, Interview of William Frost by David Ruell, December 5, 1989

35. Interview of Roger Maxfield, Robert Ordway, and Richard Malfait by
David Ruell, February 21, 1990

36. Interview of Roger Maxfield by David Ruell, February 21, 1990
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belfry railing and the installation of the second story stained glass win-
dows, and of emergency exits on the seldom seen northeast facade.

The internal layout of the Town Hall dates primarily from the 1847
renovation of the building. The report of a town committee to the March
1847 town meeting on the proposed renovation speaks of a meeting room for
the Free Will Baptist church in the second sto§¥ and of a stairway and an
entry at the southeast end of the first story. The town voted in 1850 to
finish a room in the east corner of the first story as a town office.38 So,
the layout of the first story has apparently not changed since 1850. It
is not clear, however, which architectural elements of the town portion
of the first story date from the mid 19th century remodeling, as the
details of a late 19th century renovation are not all known. The town
voted to repair the town hall in March of 1889, -but reconsidered that vote
at a special meeting in April.39 The March 1890 annual town meeting
appointed a committee to study the town hall.40 The committee reported at
the annual meeting in March of 1891 that the foundation and chlmney needed
$100 worth of repairs, and that $350 should be spent on the "Inside" for
"new floor, new plastering & sheathing, platform & desk & painting and
furniture".4l The town meeting approved the report and appropriated the
requested funds to make the repairs and zlterationsﬂ2 The remodeled town
hall was dedicated on February 10, 1892. And the town appropriated more
money in March of 1892 to pay for a cost overrun on the project and to buy
more furniture.44 But, save for the committee's initial recommendations,
we have no descrlptlon of these renovations. That brief report suggests
that the town hall floor and platform date from this renovation. But, the
meaning of the ambiguous phrase, ''new plastering and sheathing' is unclear.
"Sheathing" could well refer to the paneled ceilings of the town hall and
the selectmen's office, but it could also describe just the wainscoating
in the two rooms. It is also unclear to what extent the entry hall was
included in the 1891-92 renovations, although Be town report does refer
to th the purchase of lumber for the entry floor. In any case, it does seem
37. "Town Book No.8, 1837-1855", pp.250-251
38. "Town Book No.8, 1837- 1855" pp. 325 and 333
39. "Town Book No. 10 1880- 1900" (manuscript, N.H. Division of Records
Management and Archlves, Concord, N.H.), pp. 231,239,243, and 245-246

40. "Town Book No. 10, 1880-1900", pp. 269-270

41. "Town Book No. 10, 1880-1900", pp. 306-307

42, "Town Book No. 10, 1880—1900", pp. 306-308; The People and New Hampshire
Patriot (Concord), March 19,1891, p.5

43, The People and New Hampshire Patriot February 11, 1892, p.5; February
18 1892, P.>

44, "Town Book No. 10, 1880-1900" pp.337 and 341

45, ANNUAL REPORT OF THE FINANCIAL AFFAIRS OF THE TOWN OF LOUDON FOR THE
YEAR ENDING MARCH 1,1893 (Con<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>